
Agenda for a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel 
to be held on Wednesday, 9 November 2016 at 4.30 pm 
in City Hall
Members of the Committee – Councillors

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL DEMOCRAT

D Smith Thirkill
Engel
Tait

N Pollard

Alternates:

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL DEMOCRAT

M Pollard Nazir
Shaheen
Shafiq

R Sunderland

Non-Voting Co-opted Members:

Chair of the Children in Care Council
A J Haider – Bradford District Clinical Commissioning Group
K Taylor – West Yorkshire Police
Y Umarji - Education

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 

contacting the Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if 

Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of 
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be 
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's 
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure 
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer 
named at the foot of that agenda item.

From: To:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor
Agenda Contact: Sheila Farnhill
Phone: 01274 432268
E-Mail: sheila.farnhill@bradford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  ALTERNATE MEMBERS  (Standing Order 34)

The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.  

(Sheila Farnhill – 01274 432268)

2.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from Members and Co-opted 
Members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

(Sheila Farnhill – 01274 432268)



3.  MINUTES

Recommended –

That the minutes of the meetings held on 13 July and 7 September 
2016 be signed as a correct record (previously circulated).

(Sheila Farnhill – 01274 432268)

4.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Sheila Farnhill - 01274 432268)

B.  BUSINESS ITEMS

5.  RESIDENTIAL REVIEW - UPDATE

Previous reference: Minute 12 (2015/16)

The Deputy Director (Children’s Social Care) will present a report   
(Document “E”) which provides an update for Members on the 
progress made, to date, in respect of the on-going review of the 
Authority’s residential care provision.

Recommended –

That the approach being undertaken to revise the placement 
strategy and develop a model of care in children’s placements in 
the Bradford district be supported.

(Liz Perry – 01274 434869)

1 - 6



6.  REGIONALISATION OF ADOPTION SERVICES

Previous reference: Minute 5 (2016/17)

A report will be submitted by the Deputy Director (Children’s Social 
Care) in respect of the progress made in respect of the establishment 
of a Regional Adoption Agency (Document “F”).

Members will recall that this issue was discussed at the meeting of the 
Panel held on 13 July 2016.

Recommended –

That the arrangements for the new Regional Adoption Agency be 
endorsed and that the following recommendations to the 
Executive be supported: 

1) That the Joint Committee be formally appointed with effect 
from 10 January 2017, contingent upon all other authorities 
also agreeing to appoint to the Joint Committee.

2) That the Constitution, Terms of Reference and Procedure 
Rules of the Joint Committee be approved.

3) That it be noted that the Leader will appoint a Principal 
Member and two substitutes.

4) That the principles of the Partnership Agreement, as set out 
in the report, be noted and that the Strategic Director, 
Children’s Services be authorised to approve the terms and 
signature of the Partnership Agreement through his 
existing delegated powers.

5) That it be noted that the Joint Committee will delegate 
responsibility to the lead officer within the West Yorkshire 
Adoption Agency for the recruitment and assessment of 
adopters, adoption panels, family finding and adoption 
support.

6) That the transfer of staff via the TUPE regulations from 
Bradford into the employment of Leeds City Council to 
work within the Regional Adoption Agency be noted.

7) That it be formally agreed that Leeds host the West 
Yorkshire Adoption Agency, which is a shared service.

8) That the further work required regarding non-agency 
adoption and support for Special Guardians, as detailed in 
the report, be noted and that the Strategic Director 
Children’s Services be authorised to make further 
arrangements for extending the breadth of the delegation to 
this aspect of the function following agreement by the 
Management Board and Joint Committee as the project 
develops.

(Mary Brudenell – 01274 434439)

7 - 16

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



 

 

Report of the Deputy Director (Children’s Social Ca re) 
to the meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel to be 
held on 9 th November 2016 

E 
 
 
Subject:  Update on Residential Review 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
A verbal report was provided to the Corporate Paren ting Panel on the 9 th September 
2015 on the planned approach to deliver a residenti al review in Bradford. The review 
is now part of the wider Journey to Excellence prog ramme and this report provides 
an update on our placement strategy and change with in Children’s Homes locally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Jim Hopkinson 
Deputy Director 
(Children’s Social Care) 

 Portfolio:   
 
 Children’s Services 
 

Report Contact:  Liz Perry 
Phone: (01274) 433869 
E-mail: liz.perry@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
 Children’s Services 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5/



 

1.        SUMMARY 
 
1.1 An external review of the current residential provision In Bradford took place 

through the summer of 2015. The review was necessary due to significant changes 
in the private sector and young people with higher needs being needed to be 
looked after locally in our own provision. Fourteen months into the project, this is an 
update on progress made. 

 
2.        BACKGROUND  
 
2.1 The review highlighted the need to address the following issues within the homes: 
 

• Sustain but redesign provision 
• A coherent placement strategy based on a detailed needs assessment 
• Review all statements of purpose 
• Develop specialism within each home 
• ‘The right place the first time’ 
• Review the training offer 
• Reduce the size of the homes 

 
3.        REPORT ISSUES 
 
3.1 The ambition is to have Bradford children in Bradford provision; to meet the needs 

of more complex young people a strategic response is required from our partners to 
support our placements in Bradford.  

 
3.2  We are currently working on agreements with partners about their specific     

commitments to the homes. The Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services have 
agreed to provide a dedicated team of practitioners to looked after and adopted 
children. This team will provide integrated support to the children’s homes including, 
consultation, therapy, a fast track referral process and training to the staff in the 
homes. They have recruited to the posts in the dedicated team and continue to 
work with us to develop the role.    
  

3.3     The Virtual School has committed to provide specific support to young people in the 
specialist homes. For those not on the roll in a school they will act as a point of 
liaison and will advise, arrange and support to ensure an appropriate education 
place is available. This will include ensuring excluded young people have work to 
do during these periods. The Virtual School will also support the homes to develop 
appropriate educational spaces, enabled by the building work to the homes. They 
have also resolved to provide additional input to young people who don’t initially 
have a school placement. 
 

3.4     The Youth Service has provided a link worker to every home. There is evidence that   
young people are starting to engage with local youth services. 
 

3.5 Well matched care and placements are to be at the centre of our strategy. Homes 
will not admit children with relatively simple or straightforward needs. In future the 
ambition is that these children should access a placement with a family.  

Page 2



 

 
3.6    A targeted marketing and recruitment campaign is under way to ensure we have 

enough foster carers for teenagers to meet demand in the future. 
 

3.7   Placements in children’s homes will be provided for children with deep rooted, 
complex or chronic needs with a long history of difficulty or disruption, including 
abuse or neglect. Placements for these children will be provided in five of the 
children’s homes. All of these will provide accommodation for five young people. 
 

3.8     There will be three homes offering provision for children with extensive, complex 
and enduring needs compounded by very difficult behaviour who require more 
specialised and intensive resources. The homes where this specialist provision will 
be delivered have been identified. These will be Meadowlea, Newholme and St 
Francis House. St Francis House is a children’s home owned by Catholic Care 
which is currently unoccupied. They have agreed to lease the building. This will 
provide more suitable accommodation to be a specialist home than the available 
internal provision. Arrangements have been made with HR to discuss how we 
transition appropriate staff into and out of the homes to provide the best available 
management and staffing in the specialist provision, while maintaining the stability 
of the remainder of the homes. 
 

3.9    We have currently reduced the number of placements in all the children’s homes; 
however there is further aspiration to reduce the numbers of beds in the homes to 
four in St Francis House and Newholme, seven in Meadowlea and five in the 
remainder of the homes. There will be a total of forty beds across the service. 
 

3.10  The statements of purpose for the homes are being revised to reflect the reduced 
number of places and the specialist model of care, training and support that will be 
delivered. 

 
3.11 The current buildings have limited space for focussed direct work with young 

people; the dining rooms and living rooms are multi function and are not ideal for 
the Virtual School or CAMHS / health professionals to meet with young people. The 
space also makes managing behaviour more of a challenge.  

 
3.12 All the homes have been visited by a site surveyor, the Virtual School, Facilities 

Management and the Head of Service. Homes managers were asked to think how 
the buildings could be adapted to provide a better space to deliver wrap around 
support to placements. Due to the homes reducing in size from eight beds to five 
the space within the homes can be put to better use. All the homes now have plans 
and finance in place to carry out building work to provide space for separate 
education, therapeutic work, direct work and improved leisure space. Open spaces 
will be adapted to improve the level of noise in the buildings which will improve 
behaviour management. 

 
3.13   The building work is underway in three of the homes, and work is scheduled to be 

completed in the remainder of the homes over the next few months. All the homes 
have recently procured their own vehicle in order to ensure they can enable the 
children have access to similar experiences that families with cars are able to offer 

Page 3



 

children. Also, crucially, this enables staff to safeguard children more effectively by 
collecting them late at night and going out to search for children if they do not return 
home on time. 

 
3.14  Previously the training offer to residential staff has been generic and not specialist. 

As more complex children are being placed locally staff need to be able to access 
specialist training to meet the needs.   

 
A model of care has been developed for looked after children in Bradford: 

 
• Attachment (PACE – playfulness, acceptance, curiosity, empathy) 
• Resilience 
• Team Teach 
• Outcome Star 
• Signs of Safety 
• Building life skills for independence 

 
3.15  A workforce development plan has been implemented to embed the approaches 

above within the staff teams. This will provide staff with the skills to fully support 
children and young people. 
 

3.16   The teams are in the process of completing a self assessment; this will measure 
how competent and confident staff are in relation to working consistently with the 
model of care. Analysis will follow the self assessment and action plans will 
developed. 

 
3.17   Training in the elements of the model is very much underway. Most Residential staff 

have completed Signs of Safety training, PACE training and Outcome Star training. 
Those who have not will do so in the near future.  
 

3.18   Some of the homes already have PACE Champions and Signs of Safety Practice 
Leads. Additionally, some staff have had the opportunity to train in Dyadic 
Developmental Psychotherapy – level 1 – the therapy that incorporates PACE. A 
smaller number will have the opportunity to undertake the level 2 training. Those 
teams who do not have these key lead practitioners in place will identify people to 
fulfil these roles in the near future.  
 

3.19   All staff already undertake Team Teach training; this is refreshed annually and will 
continue. Some homes have a Team Teach tutor (someone trained to train 
practitioners in Team Teach). It is envisaged that, moving forward, all the homes 
will have a Team Teach tutor on the team.  
 

3.20  The model of care aligned with integrated support to placements is aimed at 
delivering: 
 
• Steps to success in learning and education 
• Good health and emotional well being 
• Safe, nurturing and aspirational care 

 

Page 4



 

3.21 Children and young people have been involved in the review of placements in 
Bradford. Focus groups were brought together involving younger children, older 
children and children in leaving care settings. The young people worked together to 
influence the change programme and provide feedback on the model of care that is 
being taken. This will continue throughout the Journey to Excellence programme. 

 
4.        OPTIONS 
 
4.1 To support the approach being taken to implement the recommendations of the 

residential review. 
 
5.        CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 
5.1 The approach to delivering nurturing care and placements in Bradford district is a 

key part of the journey to excellence programme and aligns with new deal priorities. 
 
6.       RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 That the Corporate Parenting Panel supports the approach being taken to revise 

the placement strategy and develop a model of care in children’s placements in 
Bradford. 

 
7.        BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 

None. 
 
8.        NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  
 

None. 
 
9.        APPENDICES 
 

None. 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of the Deputy Director (Children’s Social Ca re) 
to the meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel to be 
held on 9 th November 2016 

F 
 
Subject:  Adoption Regionalisation  
 
Summary statement: 
 
The proposals around the Regionalisation of Adoption were previously presented by the 
Corporate Parenting Panel on 13th July 2016. The Panel endorsed the recommendation to 
the Executive that work should begin to develop the establishment of a Regional Adoption 
Agency.  

The purpose of this report is inform the Corporate Parenting Panel on the progress 
regarding the regionalisation of adoption services and to seek formal endorsement of the 
arrangements for the delegation of the adoption service to a Regional Adoption Agency 
(RAA). The government’s adoption reform proposals contained within the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016 are clear that all local authorities will be part of a RAA or will have 
delegated their adoption functions to a RAA by 2020.  

Bradford has been working in collaboration with other Local Authorities and the Voluntary 
Adoption Alliance (VAA) throughout the Yorkshire and Humber region to create a new 
model of service delivery for adoption services in line with the government’s agenda. This 
report provides the up to date position on the plans for Bradford’s Adoption Service to 
transition to the new arrangements and seeks support for the delegation of the adoption 
service function to a shared service between the 5 West Yorkshire authorities with the 
appointment of a Joint Committee to oversee the arrangements. 
 
The Executive in December 2016 will be asked to formally agree. 
 
 

 

Jim Hopkinson 
Deputy Director 
(Children’s Social Care) 

 Portfolio:   
 
 Children’s Services 
 

Report Contact:  Mary Brudenell 
Phone: (01274) 434439 
E-mail: mary.brudenell@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
 Children’s Services 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6/



 

 
1.       SUMMARY 
 

    The proposals around the Regionalisation of Adoption were previously presented to 
the Corporate Parenting Panel on 13th July 2016. The Panel endorsed the 
recommendation to the Executive that work should begin to develop the 
establishment of a Regional Adoption Agency.  

1.2     The purpose of this report is inform the Corporate Parenting Panel on the progress 
regarding the regionalisation of adoption services and to seek formal endorsement 
of the arrangements for the delegation of the adoption service to a Regional 
Adoption Agency (RAA). The government’s adoption reform proposals contained 
within the Education and Adoption Act 2016 are clear that all local authorities will be 
part of a RAA or will have delegated their adoption functions to a RAA by 2020.  

1.3     Bradford has been working in collaboration with other Local Authorities and the 
Voluntary Adoption Alliance (VAA) throughout the Yorkshire and Humber region to 
create a new model of service delivery for adoption services in line with the 
government’s agenda. This report provides the up to date position on the plans for 
Bradford’s Adoption Service to transition to the new arrangements and seeks 
support for the delegation of the adoption service function to a shared service 
between the 5 West Yorkshire authorities with the appointment of a Joint 
Committee to oversee the arrangements 

 
2.       BACKGROUND  

          Nationally 

2.1 The Education and Adoption Act 2016 is clear about the regionalisation agenda and 
government is clear that all local authorities will be part of a Regional Adoption 
Agency (RAA) or will have delegated their adoption functions to a RAA by 2020. 
The background of the national landscape and drivers are covered in detail in the 
paper that came before the Executive in July 2016. 

    Yorkshire and Humber Region  

2.2     The Yorkshire and Humberside Local Authorities and Voluntary Adoption Agencies  
have been part of an adoption consortium for many years and have worked pro-
actively to develop the best arrangements as we move towards a regionalised 
approach for the delivery of adoption services in the region. This has been assisted 
with transitional funding from the Department for Education (DfE).  

2.3     There will be three groupings who will become separate Regional Adoption 
Agencies within the wider Yorkshire and Humberside (Y &H) region; South 
Yorkshire, North and the Humber and West Yorkshire. The West Yorkshire councils 
are Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield. 

2.4       The Y& H project has been selected as one of the 5 demonstration projects by the 
DfE (out of 19 projects in England). The West Yorkshire RAA will commence 
operation on 1 April 2017.  West Yorkshire councils have all agreed in principle at 

Page 8



 

the Executive/Cabinet Boards to the transfer of the adoption service function to 
establish a regional adoption agency.  

2.5 These three RAA’s – South, North and West are connected by a Hub who will fulfil 
some functions on behalf of all the three Regional Adoption Agencies (RAA’s) 
across the Yorkshire and Humber region. The work that the hub will do on behalf 
of the three RAA’s is still work in progress but aims to add value and improve 
outcomes for children as well as providing value for money.  

3.   REPORT ISSUES 

3.1   The Education and Adoption Act 2016 is clear about the regionalisation agenda 
and government is clear that all local authorities will be part of a Regional Adoption 
Agency (RAA) or will have delegated their adoption functions to a RAA by 2020. 

3.2   The plan is that the West Yorkshire RAA will become operational by April 2017 
providing a high quality service for children and adoptive families. 

Corporate Parenting Role 

3.3  The RAA will work in partnership with social work services in each Local Authority 
(LA).Each LA will retain the corporate parenting responsibility for looked after 
children and each Local Authority will still retain the responsibility for decisions 
about the planning for children and the match with a family. In Bradford, this will 
remain the responsibility of the Deputy Director, Children’s Social Care. 

3.4  The RAA will be a regional agency with an emphasis on the local delivery of 
services. The RAA will retain a base in each local authority office and will work 
with each LA to ensure that children’s needs are prioritised and that there is a 
sense of urgency in the planning for children regarding permanence. This will also 
ensure that families are recruited to meet children’s needs and that adoption 
support can be delivered effectively at a local level. 

Governance and Legal Arrangements 

3.5  The new arrangements will be overseen by a Joint Committee of councillors 
representing the 5 local authorities, who have knowledge of and responsibility for 
Children’s Services. It is proposed that this will meet as a minimum of one meeting 
per year with others to be arranged at the chair’s discretion. This will enable 
flexibility in terms of number of meetings if Members feel more control is 
necessary in the early days but are happy to exercise a lighter touch as the RAA 
becomes established.  

3.6  The strategic direction of the RAA will be discussed and agreed by the Joint 
Committee following the advice of the Management Board. The Joint Committee 
will provide support and challenge to the management board in exercising their 
corporate parenting role, regarding the functions delegated to the RAA. The 
strategy will set stretch targets with key performance indicators. The RAA will be 
required both to maintain the good performance in West Yorkshire to date but also 
to evidence the added value that the RAA has brought to the outcomes for 

Page 9



 

children, their adoptive families and the support for adoption in addition to 
evidencing value for money.  

3.7  The operational accountability of the regional agency will be to the Management 
Board, which will comprise senior officers delegated by each Director Children 
Services with representation drawn also from other stakeholders, including the 
Adopter Voice forum and the Voluntary Adoption Alliance. The management board 
will meet 2 monthly to review both RAA functioning and also the impact for West 
Yorkshire’s children, adopters and birth families. A Head of Service will be 
appointed for the RAA and the Joint committee will receive the reports of 
performance and progress from the Head of Service and the Chair of the 
Management Board. 

3.8  The adoption functions to be delegated to the West Yorkshire RAA1 include 
Adoption services including: Recruitment and approval of potential adopters2; 
Identification of potential matches between children and adopters; Provision of 
adoption panels; and provision of adoption support3 services to adopters, 
adoptees and birth families. 

3.9  In the five LA’s, non- agency adoption work is carried out within the adoption 
services in 3 out of the five LA’s and will become part of the new RAA. However, 
further work is still required about the resources required to undertake this specific 
function and this reports seeks agreement from the Executive that the DCS can 
make further arrangements for extending the breadth of the delegation to this 
aspect of the function. In addition, there is also further scoping work to be done to 
look at the support for Special Guardians in 2017 to be considered as part of the 
RAA as the project develops and again approval will be sought from the Executive 
that the DCS can agree this with the management board and Joint Committee as 
the project develops. 

3.10  The regional agency will be operated under the terms of Partnership Agreement, 
which will confirm the legal and governance arrangements; the budget; funding 
contributions for the 5 local authorities.  

Staffing Issues 

3.11   The regional agency will be led by a Head of Service with a staffing structure, 
which has been designed with reference to the application of best practice drawn 
from West Yorkshire, the voluntary sector and extensive research. 

3.12  Staff from Bradford, Wakefield, Kirklees and Calderdale adoption services will be 
transferred into the employment of Leeds City Council, within the RAA. The 
transfer of staff requires detailed HR processes to address TUPE, assimilation, 
due diligence etc. as well as formal consultation with the staff and trade unions in 
the coming months 

                                            
1 Firstly by each of the Local Authorities to the proposed Joint Committee and then by the Joint Committee to 
the lead officer within the organisational unit. 
2 This includes agency, non-agency and inter-country adoption 
3 This also includes oversight and access to adoption records. 

Page 10



 

3.13  There has been engagement with the affected staff and trade unions by each local 
authority and in addition the regional adoption project has actively engaged with 
affected staff from all the 5 agencies about the vision and aims of the agency.  

3.14   Leeds City Council will be employing around 110 staff to discharge the function 
and will include existing Leeds staff along with the adoption staff from Bradford 
and the other 3 West Yorkshire local authorities. 

3.15  These staff will be based in offices in all 5 local authority areas and appropriate 
arrangements will be put in place to ensure that they have adequate resources 
and a safe place to work  

Budget 

3.16  The budget for the first year of operation has been agreed at 6.85 million.  
Discussions between local authorities have taken place regarding the funding 
formula and the Local Authority (LA) contributions to the budget. As a result of 
lengthy discussions, agreement has been reached and is to be determined by the 
16-17 LA budget %.  

3.17  However, further work is required regarding future years contributions and there is 
an in principle agreement to an incremental approach, whereby the proportion of 
budget which reflects the spot consumption of the LAs of the RAAs services 
increases during the budget setting process each year. 

3.18  The budget agreed between the five agencies does not include “adoption 
allowances” that are provided directly to adoptive families to support the 
arrangement. In Bradford this budget is just under £2 million. The majority of these 
will be long standing commitments by each Local Authority to families that will 
continue until the children in the families reach adulthood. The payment of 
adoption allowances and the corresponding budgets show a significant degree of 
variance between the 5 local authorities and the new management of the RAA 
service will have very limited scope to influence this large expenditure for several 
years. These historical arrangements will continue to be administered and 
reviewed by each local authority whilst further work is undertaken regarding new 
system for recipients from April 2017. This work will need to consider the eligibility 
criteria for support, financial assessment model, rates, duration and review.  

3.19  In future years the proportion of the annual budget that each authority pays will be 
in accordance with the pre-agreed formula but the budget itself is subject to the 
agreement of each individual authority through the management board. The 
budget will only change in line with local authority pay settlements and changes to 
the scope of the function that is being discharged. 

            Consultation and Engagement  

      3.20     There has been regional consultation with lead members for children across the 
region to keep them updated about progress and this has also taken place locally. 
Steps have also been taken to ensure that new elected members have been 
briefed and there will be more detailed and ongoing consultation as the project 
develops. 

Page 11



 

3.21 There have been regular discussions with staff in Bradford to keep them up to date 
on the progress of regionalisation. The trade unions have also been kept up to 
date on the progress of the plans to date.  

      3.22 The transfer of the adoption function to the regional agency and staff from other 
Local Authorities to Leeds will require detailed HR processes to address TUPE, 
assimilation, due diligence etc. as well as formal consultation with the staff and 
trade unions in the coming months. There has already been consultation with staff 
within Bradford and engagement sessions regarding the vision and the aims of the 
new RAA.  

3.23 Engagement of adopted young people, adoptive parents and birth families has 
being underway regarding this agenda, with adoptive parents on the project board 
to ensure that the service is developed to meet the needs of adoptive families as 
the RAA is being developed. 

   Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

3.24      An equality impact assessment screening report has been completed and RAA will 
complete a full impact assessment within the first 6 months of the new agency 
being operational. 

 Resources and Value for Money  

3.25      A regional adoption budget has been agreed and it is not envisaged that there will 
be additional financial costs to the authority. 

3.26 It is envisaged that significant practice improvement for children and adopters will 
be achieved, as well as the scope for economies of scale and cost efficiencies, 
through the establishment of a regional agency over time. 

3.27 The adoption staff will be working in a number of locations across the West 
Yorkshire area. The main office base will be within Leeds. 

             Legal Implications 

3.28 The new arrangements will be underpinned by a detailed Partnership Agreement, 
determining a regional adoption budget with an agreed funding formula from each 
of the LA’s. The following information relates to the key elements within the 
partnership agreement for the Executive to be aware of: These issues have been 
discussed in section 3 but specific issues are highlighted here. 

 
3.29 The agreement will detail the adoption service that is being provided and the 

responsibilities of the head of the regional agency. 
  
3.30 Management Board: this will be made up of one representative from each 

authority along with representatives from the third sector. The board will work on 
the basis of one member one vote with the third sector only having a vote on 
matters that they can usefully contribute to (e.g. the third sector will not be 
involved in approving the annual budget). The management board will take 
decisions on a majority basis with the exception of approval of the annual budget 

Page 12



 

which will require the unanimous agreement of the local authority members. 
 
3.31 Budget : In future years the proportion of the annual budget that each authority 

pays will be in accordance with the pre-agreed formula but the budget itself is 
subject to the agreement of each individual authority through the management 
board. The budget will only change in line with local authority pay settlements and 
changes to the scope of the function that is being discharged 

 
3.32 Term of Agreement: The term of the agreement will be 10 years with an initial 

review after 5 years. The partnership members will be able to renew the term at 
expiry of the 10 year period. One or all partnership members will be able to 
withdraw from the partnership agreement (and therefore the regional agency) 
upon giving [18] months’ notice.  This ability to withdraw from the RAA is subject to 
following a dispute resolution procedure first and can be triggered if one or more 
partners have concerns about the operation of the RAA and at will. The 
partnership agreement will deal with allocation of costs, losses and liabilities 
between the partnership members in the event of termination.  

 
3.33 The details of the partnership agreement, including those set out above, are 

subject to change as the project develops but the principles will remain the same. 
The Director of Children’s Services will continue to consult with Members and 
officers including the lead member for Children’s Services and Families as the 
agreement and the project as a whole is developed and finalised. 

             Risk Management 

3.34 As the host local authority Leeds needs to ensure that the risks in taking this on 
are minimised with a clear partnership agreements and robust governance and 
accountability arrangements to be put into place.  

3.35 There is a host working group, in Leeds chaired by the Chief Officer in Children’s 
services ensuring that the full responsibilities of hosting the agency are met and 
any risks minimised.  

4. OPTIONS 
 

There are two available options for consideration 
 

4.1 To support the continuing development of the Regional Adoption Agency will:  
• Provide economies of scale and efficiency savings to Bradford Council at a time 

of economic austerity. 
•  improve the timeliness of service delivery to adopters and children within the 

Bradford district  
• increase the range of services available to all parties affected by adoption.  
• as an early adopter of the development of the Regional Adoption Agency model, 

enable the Agency to benefit from Department for Education funding to facilitate 
the transition process 

 
4.2 To maintain the status quo and not pursue the development of the Regional 

Adoption Agency will;  

Page 13



 

 
• render the risk that legislation will oblige the Bradford adoption service to merge 

with or be taken over by another adoption agency within 2 years 
• risk the ability to access the level of funding currently available to facilitate the 

staff time and expertise to oversee the regionalisation. 
• risk that Bradford children and adopters will be disadvantaged from accessing the 

benefits of an adoption service offered on a larger scale 
 
5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

 
The adoption service is integral to the plan to safely and appropriately reduce the 
number of Children Looked After through ensuring all our children are placed in a 
permanent family outside the care system as soon as possible and developments to 
improve adoption services address this priority. 

6.       CONCLUSIONS 

6.1 Bradford has been working in collaboration with other Local Authorities and 
Voluntary adoption agencies (VAA’s) throughout the Yorkshire and Humber region 
to create a new model of service delivery for adoption services in line with the 
government’s agenda. There is an agreed approach to the future delivery of 
services in West Yorkshire. This will improve services for children and adoptive 
families and deliver a more effective and cost efficient service, utilising government 
funding to manage the transition and improve the practice in this important area of 
work. 

 
7.       RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the arrangements for the new Regional Adoption Agency be endorsed and that the 
following recommendations to the Executive be supported:  

1) That the Joint Committee be formally appointed, with effect from 10 January 2017, 
contingent upon all other authorities also agreeing to appoint to the Joint Committee. 

2) That the Constitution, Terms of Reference and Procedure Rules of the Joint Committee 
be approved. 

3) That it be noted that the Leader will appoint a Principal Member and two substitutes. 

4) That the principles of the Partnership Agreement, as set out in the report, be noted and 
that the Director of Children’s Services be authorised to approve the terms and 
signature of the Partnership Agreement through his existing delegated powers. 

5) That it be noted that the Joint Committee will delegate responsibility to the lead officer 
within the West Yorkshire Adoption Agency for the recruitment and assessment of 
adopters, adoption panels, family finding and adoption support; 

6) That the transfer of staff via the TUPE regulations from Bradford into the employment 
of Leeds City Council to work within the Regional Adoption Agency be noted. 

Page 14



 

7) That it be formally agreed that Leeds host the West Yorkshire Adoption Agency, which 
is a shared service. 

8) That the further work required regarding non-agency adoption and support for Special 
Guardians, as detailed in the report, be noted and that the Strategic Director, Children’s 
Services be authorised to make further arrangements for extending the breadth of the 
delegation to this aspect of the function following agreement by the Management 
Board and Joint Committee as the project develops. 

8.         BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 

None. 
 
9.         NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS  
 
            None.   
 
10.       APPENDICES 
 
            None.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 RESIDENTIAL REVIEW - UPDATE
	6 REGIONALISATION OF ADOPTION SERVICES

